Employment Policies

Employer Health Insurance Mandates and the Risk of Unemployment

by Katherine Baicker, Dartmouth Helen Levy, University of Michigan June 2005



he Employment Policies Institute (EPI) is a nonprofit research organization dedicated to studying public policy issues surrounding employment growth. In particular, EPI research focuses on issues that affect entry-level employment. Among other issues, EPI research has quantified the impact of new labor costs on job creation, explored the connection between entry-level employment and welfare reform, and analyzed the demographic distribution of mandated benefits. EPI sponsors nonpartisan research that is conducted by independent economists at major universities around the country.

Katherine Baicker received her BA in economics from Yale in 1993, and her PhD in economics from Harvard in 1998. She is an associate professor in the economics department at Dartmouth, a senior research associate at the Center for the Evaluative Clinical Sciences at Dartmouth Medical School, and a faculty research fellow at the National Bureau of Economic Research. From 2001-2002 she served on the President's Council of Economic Advisers. Her research areas include health economics, welfare, and public finance, with a particular focus on the financing of health insurance and other programs for low income Americans.

Helen Levy is a Research Assistant Professor at the Institute for Social Research at the University of Michigan and an Assistant Research Scientist at the Economic Research Initiative on the Uninsured. She received a PhD in economics from Princeton in 1998. From 1998 to 2000, she was a Robert Wood Johnson Foundation Scholar in Health Policy Research at the University of California at Berkeley. From 2000 to 2004, Dr. Levy was an Assistant Professor in the Irving B. Harris Graduate School of Public Policy Studies at the University of Chicago. Her research interests include the economics of health and health insurance.

Employer Health Insurance Mandates and the Risk of Unemployment

Katherine Baicker, Dartmouth University Helen Levy, University of Michigan

Table of Contents

Executive Summary1
Introduction
Background
Data and Methodology
Results
Workers at Risk
Table 1: Insurance Status of Full-Time Private Sector Workers
Table 2: Demographics of Insured and Uninsured Workers 7
Table 3: Establishment Size and Insurance Status
Table 4: Reasons for Not Having Employer Health Insurance
Benchmark Insurance Costs9
The Role of the Minimum Wage10
Table 5: Insurance Status and Wages 10
Figure 1: How close to the minimum wage are uninsured full-time workers? . 10
Figure 2: Wages of uninsured full-time workers by education
Potential Job Loss
Table 6: Number of Workers at Risk of Losing Employment 12
Regional Variation
Table 7: Workers at Risk by State 13
Discussion
Appendix Tables
Table A1
Table A2
Table A3
Table A4
Table A5
Table A6
Table A7
Table A8
Table A9
Table A10

Employer Health Insurance Mandates and the Risk of Unemployment

Executive Summary

Overview

As healthcare costs continue to rise, the growing number of uninsured Americans receives a great deal of attention from policymakers. In response, state legislatures across the country are experimenting with mandates requiring employers to provide health insurance to their employees. Last November, California voters narrowly defeated Proposition 72. This initiative would have required all employers with more than 20 employees to either provide comprehensive health coverage or pay a fee into a fund for the working uninsured. Similar "pay or play" mandates have been debated in several states, and were even passed (but later repealed) in Massachusetts, Oregon, and Washington. Only Hawaii currently has a pay or play mandate affecting private businesses.

Emboldened by the close margin in California—Proposition 72 failed by only 0.8 percent—supporters of mandated healthcare are preparing another ballot initiative in California and a combination of legislation and ballot initiatives in at least eight additional states over the next year.¹ Facing this resurgence of state-level healthcare legislation, it is important to understand the potential labor market consequences of these plans.

In this paper, Drs. Katherine Baicker and Helen Levy of Dartmouth University and the University of Michigan analyze who will be affected by this legislation and what potential disemployment effects would result from the passage of these mandates across the country. These facts will provide a richer understanding of the potential economic consequences of plans requiring employers to provide a minimum level of fringe benefits.

Who Are the Working Uninsured?

The scope of employer mandates is often limited to employees who work a minimum level of hours. This level often covers some, but not all, part-time employees, with a common cutoff of approximately 20 hours per week—the same cutoff utilized in this study.² Of employees who are working over 20 hours a week, more than 16 percent are currently uninsured. Nearly 67 percent of these employees have their own health insurance and 17 percent have insurance from another source.

The employees without insurance are significantly more likely to come from economically vulnerable groups. For example, employees who work but don't have health insurance are three times as likely to be high school dropouts and twice as likely to be from a minority group than their insured counterparts. In addition, uninsured employees are twice as likely to be single parents as their insured counterparts.

While many of the proposed mandates exempt small employers, this paper finds that employees in small firms are disproportionately more likely to lack insurance. Fully 45 percent of uninsured employees work in firms with fewer than 25 employees, while only 19 percent of insured employees work in these small firms. Concentrating on large firms while ignoring the disproportionate presence of the uninsured in small firms is a primary factor in the failure of mandated health insurance laws to reach the majority of the uninsured.³

The authors find the assumption that the working uninsured, as a group, have no access to insurance is not wholly accurate. Approximately one-quarter of uninsured employees work in firms where they are eligible for insurance but choose not to enroll. There could be a variety of reasons for this decision, such as a decision to self-insure (particularly for the young and healthy) or the fact that their portion of the premium was too expensive. Employer mandates such as Proposition 72 ignore these rational decisions and force the employee to pay up to 20 percent of the cost of health insurance. If the employees do not value these additional benefits the same as cash—as indicated by their decision not to takeup benefits they qualify for—requiring they pay for healthcare could leave them worse off.

Disemployment Effects

According to United States Census Bureau Current Population Survey (CPS) data, a large fraction of uninsured employees are working either at or close to the minimum wage. As a result, the dramatic increase in costs created by a mandate represents a significant increase in the minimum compensation mandated for these employees. This paper reveals that nearly 43 percent of uninsured employees are working within three dollars of the minimum wage. While this amounts to only 7 percent of the workforce, it is clearly a significant portion of the uninsured population—the intended beneficiaries of the mandate.

As would be expected by the relatively low wages of the uninsured, CPS data reveal that skill level is a key factor in determining insurance status, with low-skill employees being disproportionately likely to be uninsured. Furthermore, among the uninsured, those with the lowest skills are earning the lowest wages and are disproportionately likely to lose their job as the result of a mandate.

The consensus of the economic literature on mandated benefits suggests that employers, where possible, will transfer the cost of a new mandate fully onto employees in the form of reduced wages. This process works smoothly for employees whose wages are high enough above the minimum wage to allow for full wage shifting. Problems arise, however, when employees' wages are too low to allow for shifting—as is the case for many of the uninsured employees discussed above. When this occurs, the mandated benefit will have the same effect as a minimum wage increase lower employment as businesses replace workers with machines, self-service, and more efficient employees.⁴

The authors use these broad wage definitions and the existing literature on the minimum wage to construct an approximate estimate of the number of employees who would lose their job if healthcare mandates were passed across the country. The authors find that approximately 315,000 employees would lose their job as a result of these mandates. Traditionally vulnerable groups bear a disproportionate burden of the job loss. For example, more than half of these employees will be nonwhite yet only 25 percent of the workforce in this sample was nonwhite. In addition, one-third of job losers will have less than a high school education.

Conclusion

In order to fully evaluate the potential effects of a proposed employer mandate, it is essential to understand the labor market consequences of such policies. By clearly identifying the potential scope of lost jobs along with the various groups that will be disproportionately harmed, this study provides a fuller understanding of the potential labor market effects.

Specifically, it finds that the employees who will be most harmed by mandated employerpaid healthcare are disproportionately less likely to be educated, and more likely to be a minority, a single parent, and unmarried. These are the very groups that supporters of mandated healthcare often cite in support of their efforts.

Craig Garthwaite Director of Research Employment Policies Institute

- 1. Legislation is expected or has already been introduced in Washington, New York, Connecticut, West Virginia, Massachusetts, and Maryland. Signatures are currently being gathered for ballot initiatives in Florida and Ohio.
- 2. In California the cutoff was 100 hours per month, while in Washington the cutoff was 86 hours per month.
- 3. For an analysis of the coverage rates of proposed employer mandates, please see: Yelowitz, Aaron, "The Economic Impact of Proposition 72 on California Employers," Employment Policies Institute, Sept (2004); Employment Policies Institute. "The Cost of Washington's Health Care Responsibility Act," 2005.
- 4. While the literature is clear that where possible, employers will wage-shift to pass along the cost of the mandate, it is not clear regarding the ability of the employer to do so in the short term or in a period of low inflation. As a result, the estimates in this paper should be viewed as a lower bound estimate of potential job loss from a mandate.

Employer Health Insurance Mandates and the Risk of Unemployment

Katherine Baicker, Dartmouth University Helen Levy, University of Michigan

Introduction

In the absence of any likely federal action on universal health insurance in the near future, several states have taken the lead on this issue by enacting or considering laws that require employers to provide health insurance for their employees. In California, for example, the state legislature passed a law requiring employers above a certain size to provide a specified package of health benefits for their workers; California voters narrowly overturned the measure ("Proposition 72") in November 2004. Massachusetts, Oregon, and Washington all enacted mandates that were later repealed. To date, only Hawaii has actually implemented an employer mandate, which has been in place since 1974.

The proponents of these measures make the case that they will increase insurance coverage while maintaining the role of the market in generating competition and efficiency in health insurance offerings. Opponents raise the concern that low-income workers will see offsetting reductions in their wages and that, in the presence of minimum wage laws, some of the lowest-wage workers will become unemployed. Academics and the popular press alike cite increased health insurance costs as one of the causes of recent increases in unemployment (Porter, 2004). Estimates of the potential job loss from the mandates included in the failed Clinton health care proposal ranged from 600,000 to more than 2,000,000.

To determine how important the potential job loss from employer mandates is, we need to know how many workers are likely to be affected. Several factors affect the degree to which

employer mandates will cause unemployment. First, what is the likely cost of the mandated health insurance? This clearly depends on the specifics of the mandated coverage.¹ Second, how much of an increase in the cost of employing workers is borne by employees in the form of reduced wages? There is substantial evidence that the cost of health insurance mandates will be shifted to employees, resulting in lower wages.² Third, how many workers not currently covered by employer-sponsored insurance are so close to the minimum wage that their wages cannot be lowered enough to offset the cost of the new mandate? This paper provides an estimate of how big this pool of workers is likely to be and what characteristics they are likely to have, taking into account minimum wage laws and patterns of employer health insurance offering and coverage.

We construct an estimate of the number of workers whose wages are so low that they cannot be lowered to absorb the cost of health insurance, using detailed data on wages, health insurance offering and take-up, and demographics from the Current Population Survey (CPS). We characterize the population of workers at risk in terms of their sociodemographic characteristics (age, race, gender, education, family structure) and industry of employment. We find that 43 percent of uninsured workers earn within \$3 of the minimum wage, putting them at substantial risk of unemployment if their employers were required to offer insurance. These workers are disproportionately likely to be high school dropouts or racial minorities. Understanding which workers these laws are likely to affect should play an important role in the assessment of the effect of employer mandates on the level and distribution of employment and insurance coverage.

Background

The estimated impact of an employer health insurance mandate on insurance coverage and employment depends on two sets of factors: (1) the specifics of the mandate and (2) assumptions about the dynamics of wages, fringe benefits, and employment.

Specific mandate proposals vary widely from state to state.³ Most include exemptions for smaller firms (e.g., those with fewer than 20 employees in California) and for employees with few hours (e.g., fewer than 20 hours per week in Hawaii or 100 hours per month in California). Most include minimum employer contributions (such as 80 percent of premiums in California or 75 percent in Oregon) and minimum coverage requirements (benchmarked to other plans offered in the state in Hawaii, including prescription drugs and preventive care in California). Three of these features are likely to be especially important for the analysis of any particular mandate. First, which employers and employees are affected? Any exemptions, such as those for small firms or part-time workers, will dilute both the positive and negative effects of a mandate. Second, what is the marginal cost of the newly mandated benefits, both in terms of specific benefits and in terms of lost flexibility for employers? A mandate can specify a generous benefits package that all employers must provide (thus increasing costs for some employers already providing insurance), or it can require minimal coverage that affects only employers who do not already provide insurance. Third, what fraction of these costs must nominally be borne by the employer? When nominal wage rigidities prevent accommodation of increased costs through reduced wages, the statutory incidence may have a substantial effect. Policies that

require firms to offer insurance but not pay for it would likely have little effect on rates of coverage because uninsured workers do not appear to be very responsive to the availability of benefits unless they are very heavily subsidized (Chernew, Frick, and McLaughlin, 1997; for a review of the recent literature on price elasticities of demand for health insurance among uninsured workers, see Gruber and Washington, 2003).⁴

The second set of issues-what assumptions one maintains about the dynamics of wages, fringe benefits, and employment-come into play when a significant share of the cost of the newly mandated health benefits falls on employers. There is a consensus among most economists that these costs, like the cost of any fringe benefit that workers value, will be passed on to workers in the form of reduced wages whenever possible (see Gruber and Krueger, 1991; Gruber, 1994; Fishback and Kantor, 1995; Olson, 2002). The implication of this is that when an insurance mandate accomplishes its stated goal of extending coverage to a previously uninsured worker, that worker will also experience a reduction in her wage or the growth of her wage relative to what would have happened otherwise. In the best-case scenario, the worker's wage will be sufficiently high to absorb the entire cost of the benefit, and the mandate will have changed the composition of compensation (lower wages, more benefits) but not the total value of compensation.

The problem arises when the worker's wage is not high enough to absorb this cost without bumping into the minimum wage. When this is the case, the insurance mandate has the same effect on employment as an increase in the minimum wage. Suppose, for example, that an uninsured worker earning the minimum wage becomes subject to an insurance mandate that requires the employer to provide benefits that cost \$1 per hour worked. Since there is no scope to reduce wages, the hourly cost of employing the worker is now the minimum wage plus \$1. Economists have long believed that this is likely to result in lower employment, as employers substitute machines for workers when workers become more expensive. The size of this "elasticity" of employment with respect to the minimum wage has been the subject of considerable recent controversy: there is little consensus on the magnitude of the unemployment effect associated with an increase in the minimum wage (see Brown, 1999, for a review). Regardless of one's beliefs about the employment effect of minimum wage increases, however, the employment effect of an employer health insurance mandate that increases employer costs ought to be the same as the effect of a change in the minimum wage. In the analysis that follows, we present estimates of the population at risk of being affected by the imposition of employer mandates, to which different estimates of the elasticity of employment with respect to changes in the minimum wage can be applied. Our analysis shows how many uninsured workers are within different ranges of the minimum wage (such as within \$3), so that readers can consider mandates that impose different levels of cost on employers and a range of estimates of the effect of changes in the minimum wage on employment.

Data and Methodology

The primary data for analysis come from the CPS, conducted annually by the Bureau of the Census. The CPS collects information from about 50,000 households each month about household composition, sociodemographic characteristics, earnings, and employment in eight different monthly surveys over the course of 16 months. The March survey provides detailed demographic data (such as age, race, education, marital status, and family composition of respondents) as well as basic information about health insurance coverage. We combine these variables with information provided by

respondents about their labor force status, whether or not they are paid hourly, usual hours worked, and wages in an exit ("outgoing rotation") interview. We use data from 1995 to 2003, the most recent CPS survey available. We restrict our sample to respondents ages 22 to 65.

In addition to these central variables, we use supplemental information collected from a subset of respondents in the February 1995, 1997, 1999, and 2001 Contingent and Alternative Employment Arrangement Supplements to the CPS. In these supplements, additional questions were asked about respondents' employment and the availability of employersponsored health insurance. The sample includes between 30,000 and 40,000 private sector wage and salary workers in each year. In addition to a sequence of questions about the nature of each worker's employment contract, intended to identify short-term and "contingent" jobs, these supplements ask whether the worker is in a firm that offers health insurance to any of its workers; if so, whether the worker is herself eligible for coverage; and if so, whether the worker is in fact covered by her employer's plan. These data allow us to explore the determinants of workers' insurance status in more detail, including whether respondents were employed at firms that offered health insurance and whether they were in fact eligible for that insurance.

To these data we add information on the minimum wage, which varies by state and over time (see Nelson, various years, for details of state law changes; also shown in Appendix Table A8). While the federal minimum wage changed only twice from 1995 to 2003, remaining at \$5.15 from 1998 onward, several states enacted minimum wages that were higher than the federal minimum, so workers and employers in these states faced a higher minimum wage. We then compare workers' wages to the minimum wage in effect in January in their

state and year (which corresponds best with the period from which respondents in the CPS report their wages).

We also use information on health insurance premiums by state, year, and policy type (family or single) collected by the Kaiser Family Foundation/HRET survey for 1996 to 2002. We merge these data with the individual observations from the CPS for those years to impute a health insurance premium for each observation, attributing family policy premiums to those with a spouse or children and single policy premiums to those without.

Together, these data allow us to estimate the likely effect of different employer mandates on wages and employment as well as the distributional implications for workers with different characteristics. In the analysis that follows, we aggregate data from the CPS across years and report workers' insurance status, wages relative to the minimum wage, and various demographic characteristics such as age, race, marital status, and education. We use the weights provided in the CPS so that the numbers and proportions we report are representative of the fultime private sector workforce as a whole. See the Appendix tables for more detail.

Results

We use these data to estimate which workers would be at risk of unemployment with the imposition of employer mandates. We present data on the health insurance and wage distribution of all workers, as well as different demographic subgroups, focusing in particular on workers with wages close to the minimum wage since it is these workers whose wages may have the least flexibility to be lowered in response to mandates that make employing them more costly, and thus may be most likely to face adverse employment consequences.⁵ We also limit our analysis to workers employed 20 hours per week or more, as those with fewer hours are likely to be exempt from employer mandates. Much more detailed data are shown in the Appendix tables that follow.

Workers at Risk

More than 16 percent of private sector workers employed 20 hours a week or more (whom we call "full time") are currently uninsured.

Table 1	Insurance Status of Full-Time Private Sector Workers (Fraction of all full-time private sector workers shown)		
Health insurance status			
Ow	Own employer health insurance 66.6%		
Other health insurance 17.2%			
Uninsured 16.2%		16.2%	
Total 100.0%			

Table 2	Demographics of Insured and Uninsured Workers					
		All	Insured	Uninsured		
High school dropout		11%	8%	27%		
Racial minority		26%	23%	46%		
Under age 35		36%	33%	52%		
Unmarried		38%	34%	57%		
Single parent		8%	7%	14%		

Who are these uninsured workers? They are more than three times as likely to be high school dropouts as insured workers, and twice as likely to be from a minority racial group. They are 50 percent more likely to be under age 35 and to be unmarried. They are twice as likely to be single parents.

Uninsured workers are thus demographically quite different from insured workers. Several of these characteristics make them economically vulnerable—and also make them the target population for policies intended to expand health insurance coverage. Many of the employer mandates being considered by different states exempt small firms. More than 55 percent of all uninsured workers are employed in firms with more than 25 employees (compared to more than 80 percent of insured workers)—which means that they would be covered by many proposed mandates.⁶

Why are these workers uninsured? Some work at establishments that do not offer health insurance, some are not eligible for the insurance offered by their employer, and some do not take up insurance even when they are eligible. For a subsample of workers with sup-

Table 3	Establishment Size and Insurance Status				
		All	Insured	Uninsured	
Establishn	nent size:				
1-9)	13%	10%	27%	
10-24		10%	9%	17%	
25-99		15%	15%	17%	
100-499		16%	17%	12%	
500-999		7%	7%	4%	
1,0)00+	39%	42%	23%	
	Total	100%	100%	100%	

Table 4	Reasons for Not Having Employer Health Insurance	
		Total
Those with	n other health insurance:	17%
Em	ployer does not offer	5%
Em	ployer offers; worker not eligible	2%
Em	ployer offers and worker is eligible	10%
Those who	are uninsured:	13%
Em	ployer does not offer	8%
Em	ployer offers; worker not eligible	2%
Em	ployer offers and worker is eligible	3%
Those with	n (own) employer health insurance	70%
	Total	100%

plemental information, we can see how large each of these groups is.

More than half of workers who do not have insurance through their own employer have insurance from another source—such as a spouse or a public program. Of the workers who are uninsured, about 25 percent are eligible for insurance but do not take it up, 15 percent work for an employer that offers insurance but are not eligible themselves, and almost 60 percent work for an employer that does not offer health insurance.

This decomposition is particularly important if we think that workers who are offered insurance but decline it are earning wages that have already been reduced to accommodate the cost of health insurance, and would thus be less likely to change if an employer mandate were enacted (especially if they are in firms where most other workers are offered and take up the insurance already).7 It is likely, however, that these workers turn down insurance because of the required worker premium contribution. If firms are required to pay more for health insurance under the new employer mandates, then these workers are likely to be at risk of unemployment. On the other hand, some workers may not be offered health insurance by their employer, but may have insurance through an alternate source. If mandates required employers to offer health insurance to these workers, their wages would also then need to be adjusted down, so even though they already had insurance they would be vulnerable to employment effects.8

A more sophisticated estimate of the number of workers at risk should thus account for the distribution of employer offerings in addition to the distribution of workers currently covered. Uninsured workers who decline coverage represent about 3 percent of the overall workforce. Workers who are not offered health insurance but are covered through an alternative health insurance plan represent about 8 percent of the overall workforce. Thus, taking into account whether workers have employer health insurance available to them would, if anything, increase the fraction of workers at risk of unemployment.

Benchmark Insurance Costs

How likely these uninsured workers are to face unemployment depends on whether the minimum wage is binding-that is, if the hourly cost per worker of the newly mandated health insurance is greater than the gap between the worker's wage and the minimum wage. While a more detailed calculation requires knowledge of (or assumptions about) workers' family structure, health status, the elasticity of labor supply and demand, workers' valuation of health insurance benefits, long-run labor market dynamics substitution toward part-time (such as employees) and the like, we calculate several informative back-of-the-envelope benchmarks using aggregate insurance costs. The average health insurance premium in 2002 was approximately \$5,500 per year, according to the Kaiser Family Foundation/HRET employer survey (using a weighted average of family and individual plans). The average uninsured fulltime worker in our data works 40 hours per week and 46 weeks per year, or about 1,840 hours yearly. The average hourly wage for this group of workers would thus have to decrease by about \$3 (because \$5,500/1,840 = \$2.99) to absorb fully the cost of providing the average health insurance package. Here, clearly, the costs would be different if the mandated insurance coverage were more or less generous than the typical plan already provided to most workers.

We also calculate a more sophisticated benchmark based on the insurance cost facing individual workers, rather than a broad average. We impute the insurance cost for each worker based on state of residence, year, and family structure, divide that number by 2,000 to generate an average hourly cost of insurance, and compare the difference between hourly wages and the minimum wage to that hourly insurance cost.

The Role of the Minimum Wage

A large fraction of uninsured workers earn little more than the minimum wage. Insurance costs potentially represent an enormous increase in the minimum compensation for this group of workers. The federal minimum wage is \$5.15, and the average minimum wage in our sample (taking into account state minimums that are sometimes higher) is only \$5.30—so the benchmark cost of \$3 represents almost 60 percent of the effective minimum wage.⁹ There is clearly a great deal of disagreement about the

Table 5	Insurance Status and Wages for Full-Time Private Sector Workers	
Fraction o	f workers with:	
Ow	n employer health insurance	67%
Otl	17%	
No insura		
Wi	3%	
Wi	2%	
Wi	2%	
Mo	ore than \$3 above minimum wage	9%

Figure 1 How close to the minimum wage are uninsured full-time workers?



effect of minimum wages on employment, but even under relatively conservative elasticity estimates this could result in significant effects on minimum wage-workers.

Uninsured workers earning within \$3 of the minimum wage represent 7 percent of the workforce, and almost 43 percent of all uninsured workers. (Using the more sophisticated benchmark based on individual insurance costs yields answers very similar to the \$3 benchmark, both of which are reported in the Appendix tables.)

Figure 1 shows a more detailed distribution of the hourly wages of uninsured workers relative to the minimum wage.

Thus, while the overall fraction of private sector workers who are "at risk" is moderate, since only 7 percent of all workers are uninsured workers earning within \$3 of the minimum wage, a potentially very large fraction of the group supposedly targeted for help by employer mandates might in fact be hurt, since 60 percent of uninsured workers earn within \$3 of the minimum wage. So, of the roughly 108 million U.S. private sector workers, 105 million of whom work 20 hours or more per week, 17 million are uninsured, and more than 7 million of those earn within \$3 of the minimum wage.¹⁰

As Table 2 suggested, low-skilled workers are more likely to be uninsured. Figure 2 shows this wage distribution for workers with different levels of education. Workers with less than a high school diploma are significantly more likely to have earnings close to the minimum wage.

Thus, among the uninsured, those with the least education face the highest risk of losing their jobs under employer mandates. The same is true for nonwhites, those under age 35, sin-

Figure 2 Wages of uninsured full-time workers by education



The gap between a worker's wage and the minimum wage

gle parents, and women (as seen in Appendix Table A5).

Potential Job Loss

How many of those workers are likely to lose their jobs? We calculate an approximate answer to this question in the following way. First, we compare the individual-specific hourly insurance costs described above to the cushion between an uninsured worker's wage and the minimum wage. If a worker's wage is sufficiently high that it can adjust downward by the full cost of insurance without hitting the minimum wage, we assume this worker is not at risk of losing her job. If, however, the minimum wage constraint binds, we calculate the percentage increase in total compensation implied by the health insurance mandate. For example, if a worker earning \$6 per hour is mandated to have health insurance costing the firm \$2 per hour, we assume that her wage will adjust downward by 85 cents to the minimum wage of \$5.15. However, the remaining \$1.15 of the cost of the mandate cannot be absorbed by reducing wages and increases her total compensation to \$7.15-an increase in compensation of almost 20 percent (1.15/, 6.00 = 0.19). Assuming an employment elasticity with respect to the minimum wage of -0.1, meaning that a 10 percent increase in the minimum wage would lead to a 1 percent reduction in employment, this worker has a 2 percent chance of losing her job.¹¹ Performing a similar calculation for all the workers in our sample suggests that about 315,000 workers would lose jobs as a result of a mandate with these costs. About half of these workers would be nonwhite and about one-third would have less than a high school education. The burden of the mandate would thus fall disproportionately on these groups since, for example, nonwhite workers are only 25 percent of the workforce in this sample.

To the extent that mandates impose additional costs on firms (such as reduced flexibility or more generous coverage than they were already offering), these figures represent a lower bound on the increase in unemployment likely to result from such mandates.

Regional Variation

These results are not confined to any particular area of the country. As Appendix Table 9 shows, the Northeast, Midwest, South, and West have very similar fractions of workers at

Table 6	Number of Workers at Risk of Losing Employment	
Total private	e sector workers (2003; from BLS)	108 million
Fraction of	hose workers who work full time	
(20 hours o	r more per week) (author calculations)	97.2%
Total full-tim	ne private sector workers	105 million
Fraction of	hose who are uninsured	16.2%
Fraction "at	risk" (uninsured and earning wages less than	
the minimu	m wage plus the cost of health insurance)	6.9%
Workers at	risk of losing employment	7.25 million
Average inc	rease in compensation for uninsured workers	19.9%
Workers like	ely to become unemployed assuming elasticity = -0.1	315,000
Nonwhite	workers	164,000
Workers v	vith less education than high school diploma	107,000

Note: BLS= Bureau of Labor Statistics

risk for unemployment. Looking at individual states shows that there is local variation in this at-risk pool, however (although sample size limits our ability to compare individual states).

Individual states should be more concerned with employment effects of their own minimum wage laws than the federal government, since firms and jobs may move across state lines if the minimum wage is lower elsewhere.

Discussion

Understanding the labor market consequences of employer mandates is a key component in evaluating their effectiveness relative to other policies such as tax credits, Medicaid expansions, and individual mandates. Several studies have analyzed the effect of different versions of employer mandates on insurance premiums and

on workers' wages. This study contributes an important missing piece to the analysis: how large is the potential risk of unemployment? Our analysis suggests that almost half of the targeted population of uninsured workers have hourly wages close enough to the minimum wage that employers will not be able to lower their wages enough to accommodate fully the increase in compensation costs that employer mandates would impose. These workers, who tend to be disproportionately low-education, minority, and female, thus face a risk of unemployment. This risk of unemployment should be a crucial component in the evaluation of both the effectiveness of these policies in reducing the number of uninsured and their broader effects on the well-being of low-income workers.

Table 7	Workers at Risk by State					
		CA	MA	OR	WA	US Avg
Total		100.0%	100%	100%	100%	100%
Own Employer Health Insurance		62.0%	65.2%	70.2%	69.8%	62%
Other Emp	loyer Health Insurance	15.5%	22.7%	15.4%	15.4%	15.5%
Unins, wit	hin \$1 min	65.0%	1.9%	4.9%	3.2%	6.5%
Unins, \$1-2 of min wage		2.6%	1.2%	2.0%	2.3%	2.6%
Unins, \$2-3 of min wage		2.6%	1.1%	1.2%	1.5%	2.6%
Unins, \$3+ min wage		10.8%	8.0%	6.3%	7.9%	10.8%

Baicker, Katherine, and Amitabh Chandra, "The Labor Market Effects of Rising Health Insurance Costs: Evidence from the Medical Malpractice Crisis," Working Paper, 2004.

Bureau of Labor Statistics, Current Employment Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor, 2003.

Brown, Charles, "Minimum Wages, Employment, and the Distribution of Income," *Handbook of Labor Economics* Volume 3B, Elsevier Science, 1999.

California Health Care Foundation, "State Employer Health Insurance Mandates: A Brief History," March 2004, <u>www.chcf.org/documents/EmployerInsuranceMandates.pdf</u> (accessed October 31, 2004).

Chernew, Michael, Kevin Frick, and Catherine McLaughlin, "The Demand for Health Insurance Coverage by Low-Income Workers: Can Reduced Premiums Achieve Full Coverage?" Health Services Research, October 1997.

Chollet, Deborah, "Public Policy Options to Expand Health Insurance Coverage among the Nonelderly Population." In *Government Mandating of Employee Benefits*, Employee Benefits Research Institute, 1987, <u>www.ebri.org/books/govmand.htm</u> (accessed October 31, 2004).

Currie, Janet, and Brigitte C. Madrian, "Health, Health Insurance and the Labor Market." In Orley Ashenfelter and David Card (Eds.) *The Handbook of Labor Economics*, Vol. 3C, 2000. (Holland: Elsevier Science).

Farber, Henry, and Helen Levy, "Recent Trends in Employer-Sponsored Health Insurance Coverage: Are Bad Jobs Getting Worse?" *Journal of Health Economics*, Vol. 19, 2000, pp. 93-119.

Fiscal Policy Institute, "State Minimum Wages and Employment in Small Businesses," April 2004, <u>www.fiscalpolicy.org/minimumwageandsmallbusiness.pdf</u> (accessed October 31, 2004).

Fishback, Price and Shawn Everett Kantor, "Did Workers Gain from the Passage of Workers' Compensation Laws?" Quarterly Journal of Economics 110 (August 1995), pp. 713-742.

Gruber, Jonathan, "The Incidence of Mandated Maternity Benefits," *American Economic Review*, June 1994: 622-41.

Gruber, Jonathan, and Ebonya Washington, "Subsidies to Employee Health Insurance Premiums and the Health Insurance Market," National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 9567, March 2003.

Gruber, Jonathan, and Alan Krueger, "The Incidence of Mandated Employer Provided Insurance: Lessons from Workers' Compensation Insurance." In David Bradford (Ed.), *Tax Policy and the Economy*, Vol. 5, (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 1991), pp. 111-144.

Kaiser/HRET, Survey of Employer-Sponsored Health Benefits, various years.

Krueger, Alan and Uwe Reinhardt, "The Economics of Employer Versus Individual Mandates," *Health Affairs*, Spring 1994.

Nelson, Richard, "State Labor Legislation Enacted," Monthly Labor Review, January, various years.

Olson, Craig, "Do Workers Accept Lower Wages in Exchange for Health Benefits?" *Journal of Labor Economics*, 2002 20(2) part 2: S91 – S114.

Pierce, Brooks, "Compensation Inequality," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. CXVI, Issue 4, November 2001.

Porter, Eduardo, "Rising Cost of Health Benefits Cited as Factor in Slump of Jobs," *New York Times,* August 19, 2004.

Summers, Lawrence H., "Some Simple Economics of Mandated Benefits," *American Economic Review*, May 1989: 177-83.

Thurston, Norman, "Labor Market Effects of Hawaii's Mandatory Employer-Provided Health Insurance," *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, October 1997.

United States Bureau of the Census, Current Population Survey, various years.

Yelowitz, Aaron, "The Cost of California's Health Insurance Act of 2003," *Employment Policies Institute*, October 2003.

Yelowitz, Aaron, "The Economic Impact of Proposition 72 on California Employers," *Employment Policies Institute*, September 2004.

Zedlewski, Sheila R. et al., "Play-or-Pay Employer Mandates: Potential Effects," *Health Affairs*, Spring 2002.

Appendix Tables

The data for this analysis come primarily from the *Current Population Survey*. The survey is done over several months each year. The variables we use come from several different months of the survey. We use data on demographics and basic health insurance coverage from the March CPS, 1995-2003. We use more detailed data on health insurance eligibility and employer offering for a subsample of workers available from the February supplement for 1995, 1997, 1999, and 2001. We use wages from each respondent's exit interview.

The following tables provide more detail on the data used for this analysis.

Table A1:	Distribution of full-time private sector workers by health insurance coverage
Table A2:	Demographic and employment characteristics for full-time private sector work-
	ers with and without insurance
Table A3:	Distribution of full-time private sector workers by insurance status and wage
	relative to the minimum wage
Table A4:	Distribution of all full-time private sector workers by insurance coverage and
	wage relative to minimum if uninsured
Table A5:	Cumulative fraction of uninsured full-time private sector workers within a cer-
	tain amount of minimum wage
Table A6:	The fraction of full-time private sector workers who are at risk, based on wages
	and demographics
Table A7:	Projected impact of insurance mandate on different groups
Table A8:	State Minimum Wage Laws in Effect by Year (in January)
Table A9:	Distribution of full-time private sector workers by insurance coverage and
	(if uninsured) wage relative to the minimum wage, for regions and selected states
Table A10:	Description of final sample selection

Table A1Distribution of full-time private sector workers by health insurance coverage				
		March	February	
		sample	subsample	
Total		1.000	1.000	
Own emp	loyer health insurance	0.666	0.703	
	×			
Other hea	lth insurance	0.172	0.171	
Emp	loyer does not offer	-	0.051	
Emp	loyer offers; worker not eligible	-	0.021	
Emp	loyer offers and worker is eligible	-	0.100	
Uninsure	d	0.162	0.126	
Emp	loyer does not offer	-	0.078	
Emp	loyer offers; worker not eligible	-	0.019	
Emp	loyer offers and worker is eligible	-	0.030	
Sample n (un	nweighted)	200,655	47,239	

Note: The survey years included in the March sample are 1996 through 2003 while the February subsample includes 1997, 1999, and 2001.

Table A2	A2 Demographic and employment char- acteristics for full-time private sector workers with and without insurance (each entry represents fraction of total full-time private sector workforce)				
		All	Insured	Unins.	
Age:					
22 – 24		0.073	0.058	0.147	
25 - 34		0.289	0.274	0.368	
35 – 44		0.310	0.318	0.266	
45 – 54		0.228	0.242	0.153	
55 - 64		0.101	0.108	0.066	
Family structure	:				
Single male,	no kids	0.167	0.146	0.276	
Married mal	e, no kids	0.149	0.158	0.101	
Single male,	kids	0.023	0.018	0.049	
Married mal	e, kids	0.218	0.227	0.170	
Single femal	e, no kids	0.131	0.126	0.155	
Married fem	ale, no kids	0.124	0.134	0.078	
Single femal	e, kids	0.055	0.048	0.092	
Married fem	ale, kids	0.133	0.143	0.079	
Education:					
Less than 9	years	0.037	0.022	0.114	
9 – 11 years		0.072	0.056	0.153	
High school	graduate	0.342	0.335	0.381	
Some colleg	e	0.289	0.298	0.239	
College grad	luate	0.190	0.209	0.094	
Post-college		0.070	0.080	0.020	
Race:					
White non-H	lispanic	0.736	0.774	0.536	
Black		0.108	0.100	0.150	
Hispanic wh	ite	0.108	0.079	0.256	
Other		0.049	0.047	0.058	
Establishment s	ize:				
1 – 9		0.127	0.100	0.271	
10 - 24		0.103	0.090	0.169	
25 - 99		0.153	0.149	0.172	
100 - 499		0.164	0.172	0.123	
500 - 999		0.065	0.070	0.039	
1,000+		0.389	0.420	0.226	
Industry					
Agro/for/fi	sh	0.014	0.010	0.039	
Mining		0.006	0.007	0.004	
Construction		0.067	0.056	0.122	
Mfg		0.219	0.235	0.136	
Trade		0.202	0.188	0.275	
TCPU		0.079	0.084	0.056	
FIRE		0.080	0.088	0.041	
Services		0.325	0.326	0.323	
Public adm	in	0.006	0.006	0.005	
i done dom		0.000	0.000	0.005	
Unweighted sar	nple size	200,655	170,028	30,627	

Note: TCPU= Transportation, communication, and public utilities. FIRE= Finance, insurance, and real-estate.

Table A3	Distribution of full-time private sector workers by insurance status and wage relative to the minimum wage (each entry represents fraction of total full-time private sector workforce)			
		March	February	
		sample	subsample	
Own employ	yer health insurance	0.666	0.703	
Other health	insurance and:	0.172	0.171	
Not offer	ed own EHI		0.051	
Not eligi	ble for own EHI	-	0.021	
Eligible	for own EHI	-	0.100	
Uninsured a	nd:	0.162	0.111	
Within \$1 o	f minimum wage	0.032	0.028	
and no	t offered own EHI	-	0.020	
and not eligible for own EHI		-	0.004	
and eligible for own EHI		-	0.004	
Within $1.01 - 2.00$ of minimum wage 0.017		0.015		
and no	t offered own EHI	-	0.010	
and no	t eligible for own EHI	-	0.002	
and eli	gible for own EHI	-	0.003	
Within \$2.0	1 – 3.00 of minimum wage	0.020	0.017	
and no	t offered own EHI	-	0.010	
and no	t eligible for own EHI	-	0.003	
and eli	gible for own EHI	-	0.004	
More than \$3 above minimum wage		0.093	0.067	
and offered own EHI		-	0.038	
and not eligible for own EHI -		0.010		
and eli	and eligible for own EHI -			
Unweighted sample size 200,655 47,2				

Note: The survey years included in the March sample are 1996 through 2003 while the February subsample includes 1997, 1999, and 2001. EHI= Employee health insurance.

Table A4

Distribution of all full-time private sector workers by insurance coverage and wage relative to minimum if uninsured (rows sum to 1.000)

			Fracti	ion of worker	's with		
				No insura	nce; by proxim	ity to minimu	ım wage:
	Own employer health insurance	Other health insurance	No insurance	≤\$1	\$1.01 - \$2	\$2.01 - \$3	>\$3
Total	0.666	0.172	0.162	0.032	0.017	0.020	0.093
Age:							
22 - 24	0.475	0.198	0.327	0.079	0.045	0.054	0.149
25 - 34	0.648	0.146	0.206	0.039	0.021	0.025	0.121
35 - 44	0.677	0.184	0.139	0.025	0.014	0.016	0.085
45 - 54	0.707	0.184	0.109	0.020	0.011	0.013	0.065
55 - 64	0.730	0.164	0.106	0.022	0.011	0.011	0.062
Family structure:							
Single male, no kids	0.661	0.071	0.268	0.042	0.025	0.031	0.169
Married male, no kids	0.755	0.135	0.110	0.015	0.009	0.012	0.075
Single male, kids	0.578	0.082	0.340	0.061	0.034	0.041	0.204
Married male, kids	0.724	0.150	0.126	0.019	0.011	0.014	0.083
Single female, no kids	0.727	0.081	0.192	0.049	0.023	0.026	0.095
Married female, no kids	0.597	0.302	0.101	0.021	0.012	0.013	0.055
Single female, kids	0.649	0.079	0.272	0.074	0.037	0.045	0.118
Married female, kids	0.505	0.399	0.096	0.029	0.014	0.013	0.041
Education:							
Less than 9 years	0.396	0.099	0.169	0.074	0.070	0.193	0.396
9 – 11 years	0.518	0.139	0.092	0.047	0.051	0.153	0.518
High school graduate	0.643	0.177	0.032	0.019	0.024	0.106	0.643
Some college	0.673	0.193	0.021	0.011	0.016	0.086	0.673
College graduate	0.754	0.166	0.008	0.005	0.006	0.061	0.754
Post-college	0.806	0.149	0.004	0.002	0.002	0.038	0.806
Race:							
White non-Hispanic	0.695	0.187	0.118	0.019	0.010	0.014	0.075
Black	0.650	0.125	0.225	0.045	0.025	0.031	0.125
Hispanic white	0.496	0.119	0.385	0.105	0.053	0.054	0.174
Other	0.640	0.167	0.193	0.040	0.018	0.020	0.115
Establishment size:							
1-9	0.351	0.305	0.344	0.074	0.034	0.037	0.200
10 - 24	0.496	0.238	0.267	0.052	0.027	0.034	0.154
25 - 99	0.640	0.178	0.182	0.038	0.019	0.024	0.102
100 - 499	0.731	0.148	0.122	0.021	0.012	0.017	0.071
500 - 999	0.763	0.140	0.097	0.016	0.010	0.012	0.059
1,000+	0.781	0.125	0.094	0.017	0.011	0.012	0.054
Industry							
Agro/for/fish	0.365	0.196	0.439	0.153	0.067	0.059	0.160
Mining	0.813	0.086	0.101	0.010	0.002	0.011	0.079
Construction	0.544	0.160	0.296	0.020	0.017	0.025	0.234
Mfg	0.796	0.104	0.101	0.018	0.010	0.014	0.059
Trade	0.579	0.202	0.220	0.061	0.029	0.031	0.099
TCPU	0.778	0.109	0.114	0.012	0.008	0.011	0.082
FIRE	0.739	0.179	0.082	0.008	0.005	0.009	0.060
Services	0.622	0.218	0.161	0.031	0.018	0.020	0.091
Public administration	0.758	0.118	0.125	0.020	0.007	0.011	0.087
Unweighted sample size	134,054	35,974	30,627	5,940	3,202	3,832	17,653

Cumulative fraction of uninsured full-time private sector workers within a certain amount of minimum wage

			G	ap betwee	n worker'	s wage an	d the min	imum waş	ge		
	\$0.25	\$0.5	\$0.75	\$1.00	\$1.50	\$2.00	\$2.50	\$3.00	\$3.50	\$4.00	>\$4.00
Total	0.096	0.126	0.148	0.196	0.251	0.300	0.362	0.425	0.485	0.529	1.000
Age:											
22 - 24	0.120	0.160	0.183	0.242	0.316	0.380	0.465	0.543	0.622	0.675	1.000
25 - 34	0.092	0.121	0.143	0.191	0.242	0.290	0.354	0.413	0.476	0.526	1.000
35 - 44	0.087	0.114	0.134	0.178	0.229	0.276	0.329	0.388	0.441	0.479	1.000
45 - 54	0.092	0.120	0.142	0.187	0.239	0.284	0.342	0.405	0.457	0.494	1.000
55 - 64	0.107	0.144	0.166	0.212	0.267	0.312	0.362	0.415	0.466	0.504	1.000
Family structure:											
Single male, no kids	0.077	0.103	0.119	0.159	0.207	0.253	0.310	0.369	0.431	0.480	1.000
Married male, no kids	0.074	0.092	0.108	0.137	0.183	0.217	0.263	0.324	0.381	0.422	1.000
Single male, kids	0.078	0.108	0.129	0.180	0.217	0.280	0.349	0.400	0.473	0.524	1.000
Married male, kids	0.064	0.089	0.108	0.149	0.193	0.232	0.288	0.344	0.398	0.447	1.000
Single female, no kids	0.132	0.169	0.199	0.253	0.316	0.371	0.441	0.507	0.568	0.609	1.000
Married female, no kids	0.108	0.141	0.166	0.209	0.269	0.326	0.387	0.455	0.511	0.550	1.000
Single female, kids	0.134	0.173	0.197	0.271	0.346	0.405	0.491	0.568	0.636	0.678	1.000
Married female, kids	0.139	0.185	0.222	0.298	0.380	0.443	0.510	0.576	0.633	0.670	1.000
Education:											
Less than 9 years	0.170	0.220	0.257	0.334	0.421	0.480	0.548	0.618	0.685	0.732	1.000
9 – 11 years	0.120	0.167	0.199	0.268	0.338	0.405	0.482	0.554	0.615	0.660	1.000
High school graduate	0.079	0.110	0.129	0.177	0.233	0.284	0.351	0.415	0.478	0.522	1.000
Some college	0.088	0.107	0.125	0.158	0.200	0.242	0.298	0.360	0.421	0.471	1.000
College graduate	0.061	0.071	0.081	0.101	0.131	0.160	0.194	0.237	0.278	0.313	1.000
Post-college	0.051	0.066	0.073	0.097	0.118	0.133	0.157	0.176	0.203	0.224	1.000
Race:											
White non-Hispanic	0.081	0.102	0.119	0.157	0.203	0.246	0.302	0.361	0.417	0.460	1.000
Black	0.079	0.118	0.137	0.199	0.250	0.308	0.380	0.447	0.517	0.568	1.000
Hispanic white	0.134	0.176	0.209	0.272	0.349	0.409	0.480	0.549	0.611	0.655	1.000
Other	0.106	0.143	0.168	0.206	0.257	0.302	0.354	0.403	0.468	0.512	1.000
Establishment size:											
1 – 9	0.119	0.151	0.171	0.214	0.265	0.311	0.363	0.419	0.475	0.518	1.000
10 - 24	0.094	0.124	0.146	0.195	0.250	0.297	0.361	0.423	0.488	0.537	1.000
25 - 99	0.096	0.129	0.154	0.206	0.261	0.310	0.377	0.440	0.498	0.544	1.000
100 - 499	0.072	0.102	0.124	0.173	0.226	0.273	0.344	0.413	0.474	0.518	1.000
500 - 999	0.084	0.109	0.123	0.165	0.214	0.264	0.330	0.392	0.451	0.507	1.000
1,000+	0.084	0.111	0.134	0.184	0.246	0.302	0.366	0.432	0.495	0.534	1.000
Industry											
Agro/for/fish	0.168	0.226	0.270	0.348	0.443	0.501	0.567	0.636	0.709	0.742	1.000
Mining	0.015	0.049	0.068	0.094	0.104	0.115	0.180	0.222	0.269	0.312	1.000
Construction	0.027	0.038	0.044	0.069	0.096	0.124	0.163	0.210	0.261	0.310	1 000
Mfg	0.079	0.111	0.129	0.177	0.228	0.275	0.343	0.410	0.473	0.521	1.000
Trade	0.141	0.182	0.215	0.277	0.348	0.407	0.477	0.548	0.609	0.653	1.000
TCPU	0.052	0.067	0.076	0.104	0.144	0.176	0.226	0.276	0.336	0.378	1,000
FIRE	0.052	0.066	0.070	0.005	0.144	0.154	0.220	0.270	0.330	0.370	1,000
Carvicas	0.005	0.000	0.075	0.095	0.251	0.154	0.202	0.203	0.322	0.509	1.000
Dublic administration	0.095	0.125	0.140	0.194	0.251	0.303	0.371	0.432	0.495	0.330	1.000
Public administration	0.071	0.107	0.124	0.160	0.197	0.219	0.258	0.303	0.344	0.382	1.000

Table A6 The I Pane	fraction (A: Full	of full-time p Sample, Uni	vrivate secto insured Defi	r workers w nition 1 (inc	ho are at ris sludes those	sk, based on who decline	i wages and e insurance	demograpt)	lics
Fraction at risk defined relative to:	I		All wo	orkers		а. С	Uninsured	1 workers	
Proximity to minimum to qualify as "at risk" f uninsured worker:	i wage or an	\$1	\$2	\$3	Individual- specific cost	\$1	\$2	\$3	Individual- specific cost
Numerator:		Uninsured, within \$1	Uninsured, within \$2	Uninsured, within \$3	Uninsured, within ind. cost	Uninsured, within \$1	Uninsured, within \$2	Uninsured, within \$3	Uninsured, within ind. cost
Denominator:		All	All	All	All	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured
Total		0.024	0.036	0.048	0.040	0.243	0.368	0.501	0.415
Age: 22 – 24		0.061	0.084	0.117	0.091	0.312	0.430	0.600	0.467
25 - 34		0.025	0.040	0.057	0.045	0.212	0.345	0.484	0.382
35 - 44		0.021	0.032	0.043	0.037	0.243	0.366	0.491	0.428
45 - 54		0.018	0.026	0.033	0.029	0.249	0.360	0.465	0.413
55 – 64		0.015	0.024	0.031	0.026	0.252	0.393	0.521	0.437
Family structure:									
Single male, no kid.	S	0.030	0.050	0.069	0.033	0.194	0.317	0.437	0.210
Married male, no ki	ids	0.012	0.019	0.026	0.027	0.179	0.292	0.401	0.412
Single male, kids		0.042	0.062	0.086	0.096	0.213	0.318	0.440	0.488
Married male, kids		0.015	0.023	0.032	0.033	0.180	0.276	0.397	0.410
Single female, no k	ids	0.035	0.053	0.068	0.039	0.309	0.466	0.606	0.343
Married female, no	kids	0.018	0.024	0.034	0.036	0.313	0.424	0.609	0.635
Single female, kids		0.050	0.069	0.094	0.098	0.338	0.468	0.637	0.662
Married female, kid	S	0.025	0.037	0.048	0.048	0.334	0.493	0.631	0.640
Education:									
Less than 9 years		0.143	0.211	0.262	0.246	0.395	0.583	0.724	0.680
9 - 11 years		0.070	0.106	0.142	0.120	0.315	0.477	0.640	0.540
College graduate		0.008	0.013	0.019	0.023	0.101	0.160	0.236	0.285
Post-college		0.004	0.006	0.008	0.012	0.097	0.133	0.176	0.259

Table A6 The fra	iction of full A: Full Sam	l-time p ple, Uni	rivate secto nsured Defi	r workers w Inition 1 (ind	ho are at ris sludes those	sk, based or who decline	ı wages and e insurance	demograph)	ics
Fraction at risk defined relative to:			All wo	orkers			Uninsure	1 workers	
Proximity to minimum w	age				Individual-				Individual-
uninsured worker:	all	\$1	\$2	\$3	specific	\$1	\$2	\$3	specific
	Thin	positor	Iminorial	IInimial	Uninsured,	Tninend	IInined	IInined	Uninsured,
Numerator:	wit	thin \$1	within \$2	within \$3	cost	within \$1	within \$2	within \$3	cost
Denominator:		All	All	All	All	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured
Race:						,			
White non-Hispanic		0.017	0.027	0.039	0.031	0.183	0.287	0.410	0.324
Black		0.036	0.056	0.085	0.068	0.211	0.329	0.494	0.395
Hispanic white		0.093	0.140	0.184	0.166	0.300	0.452	0.594	0.537
Other		0.038	0.056	0.072	0.064	0.260	0.382	0.492	0.437
Establishment size:									
1 – 9		0.073	0.107	0.142	0.123	0.241	0.352	0.465	0.403
10 - 24		0.042	0.067	0.094	0.079	0.201	0.320	0.450	0.377
25 – 99		0.031	0.049	0.070	0.058	0.208	0.328	0.471	0.391
100 - 499		0.020	0.030	0.042	0.034	0.219	0.339	• 0.469	0.384
500 - 999		0.012	0.016	0.026	0.021	0.163	0.229	• 0.369	0.289
1,000+	/	0.016	0.025	0.036	0.028	0.225	0.357	0.509	0.407
Industry									
Agriculture/forestry/fi	shing	0.145	0.220	0.266	0.226	0.372	0.567	0.684	0.583
Mining		0.005	0.006	0.011	0.017	0.068	0.090	0.156	0.244
Construction		0.014	0.029	0.050	0.040	0.054	0.115	0.197	0.156
Manufacturing		0.014	0.022	0.032	0.027	0.205	0.321	0.479	0.396
Trade		0.058	0.084	0.114	0.096	0.314	0.458	0.619	0.523
TCPU		0.010	0.020	0.030	0.024	0.107	0.210	0.317	0.262
FIRE		0.012	0.018	0.025	0.020	0.174	0.275	0.380	0.296
Services		0.026	0.040	0.056	0.046	0.213	0.328	0.458	0.376
Public administration		0.024	0.040	0.044	0.036	0.149	0.241	0.265	0.219
Unweighted sample size	4	17,239	47,239	47,239	47,239	5,747	5,747	5,747	5,747

The fraction of full-time private sector workers who are at risk, based on wages and demographics Panel B: Subsample with detailed health insurance information, Uninsured Definition 1 (includes those who decline insurance) Table A6

on at risk defined e to:		All w	orkers			Uninsure	d workers	
to minimum wage us "at risk" for an worker:	\$1	\$2	\$3	Individual- specific cost	\$1	\$2	\$3	Individual- specific cost
	Uninsured, within \$1	Uninsured, within \$2	Uninsured, within \$3	Uninsured, within ind. cost	Uninsured, within \$1	Uninsured, within \$2	Uninsured, within \$3	Uninsured, within ind. cost
itor:	All	All	All	All	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured
	0.028	0.043	0.059	0.049	0.219	0.337	0.470	0.391
4	0.074	0.107	0.150	0.113	0.292	0.422	0.589	0.443
4	0.030	0.049	0.070	0.057	0.194	0.316	0.452	0.366
4	0.024	0.037	0.052	0.045	0.215	0.329	0.457	0.400
4	0.020	0.030	0.040	0.035	0.218	0.320	0.428	0.378
4	0.018	0.028	0.038	0.031	0.228	0.359	0.491	0.408
ructure:								
male, no kids	0.036	0.060	0.084	0.040	0.184	0.303	0.426	0.201
d male, no kids	0.013	0.021	0.031	0.032	0.150	0.251	0.368	0.380
male, kids	0.052	0.080	0.109	0.121	0.207	0.321	0.436	0.484
ed male, kids	0.017	0.026	0.039	0.040	0.156	0.245	0.362	0.374
female, no kids	0.041	0.061	0.082	0.046	0.283	0.420	0.567	0.316
ed female, no kids	0.021	0.029	0.043	0.045	0.264	0.374	0.543	0.572
female, kids	0.060	0.087	0.123	0.130	0.289	0.423	0.595	0.627
ed female, kids	0.031	0.046	0.059	0.060	0.300	0.454	0.580	0.591
nan 9 years	0.158	0.234	0.299	0.279	0.364	0.539	0.690	0.644
years	0.082	0.124	0.170	0.144	0.293	0.443	0.610	0.514
chool graduate	0.029	0.046	0.066	0.054	0.202	0.318	0.458	0.371
college	0.020	0.031	0.044	0.035	0.179	0.278	0.395	0.317
e graduate	0.007	0.011	0.016	0.012	0.138	0.213	0.297	0.224
ollege	0.003	0.003	0.005	0.004	0.095	0.113	0.162	0.146

Table A6	The fraction Panel B: Sub those who de	of full-time p sample with ecline insura	orivate secto ⊢detailed he ince)	or workers w ∌alth insurar	/ho are at ris nce informat	sk, based or tion, Uninsu	ו wages and red Definitio	l demograph n 1 (include	lics S
Fraction at risk relative to:	defined		All we	orkers			Uninsured	l workers	
Proximity to m to qualify as "a uninsured work	inimum wage it risk" for an cer:	\$1	\$2	\$3	Individual- specific cost	\$1	\$2	\$3	Individual- specific cost
Numerator:	2	Uninsured, within \$1	Uninsured, within \$2	Uninsured, within \$3	Uninsured, within ind. cost	Uninsured, within \$1	Uninsured, within \$2	Uninsured, within \$3	Uninsured, within ind. cost
Denominator:		All	All	All	All	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured
Kace: White non-	Hisnanic	0.017	0.027	0.030	0.031	0.183	0.287	0.410	0374
Black	and	0.036	0.056	0.085	0.068	0.211	0.329	0.494	0.395
Hispanic wl	hite	0.093	0.140	0.184	0.166	0.300	0.452	0.594	0.537
Other		0.038	0.056	0.072	0.064	0.260	0.382	0.492	0.437
Establishment	size:								
1 – 9		0.073	0.107	0.142	0.123	0.241	0.352	0.465	0.403
10 - 24		0.042	0.067	0.094	0.079	0.201	0.320	0.450	0.377
25 - 99		0.031	0.049	0.070	0.058	0.208	0.328	0.471	0.391
100 - 499		0.020	0.030	0.042	0.034	0.219	0.339	* 0.469	0.384
500 - 999		0.012	0.016	0.026	0.021	0.163	0.229	• 0.369	0.289
1,000+		0.016	0.025	0.036	0.028	0.225	0.357	0.509	0.407
Industry									
Agriculture	/forestry/fishing	0.145	0.220	0.266	0.226	0.372	0.567	0.684	0.583
Mining		0.005	0.006	0.011	0.017	0.068	060.0	0.156	0.244
Constructio	n	0.014	0.029	0.050	0.040	0.054	0.115	0.197	0.156
Manufactur	ing	0.014	0.022	0.032	0.027	0.205	0.321	0.479	0.396
Trade		0.058	0.084	0.114	0.096	0.314	0.458	0.619	0.523
TCPU		0.010	0.020	0.030	0.024	0.107	0.210	0.317	0.262
FIRE		0.012	0.018	0.025	0.020	0.174	0.275	0.380	0.296
Services		0.026	0.040	0.056	0.046	0.213	0.328	0.458	0.376
Public admi	nistration	0.024	0.040	0.044	0.036	0.149	0.241	0.265	0.219
,						1	;		
Unweighted sa	mple size	47,239	47,239	47,239	47,239	5,747	5,747	5,747	5,747

	Panel C: Su Uninsured	ubsample w Definition 2	excludes t	hose who c	decline insu	rance)			-
Fraction at risk relative to:	defined		All wo	orkers			Uninsure	d workers	
Proximity to m to qualify as "al uninsured work	inimum wage t risk" for an	15	\$2	\$3	Individual- specific cost	\$1	\$2	\$3	Individual- specific cost
Numerator:	-	Uninsured, within \$1	Uninsured, within \$2	Uninsured, within \$3	Uninsured, within ind. cost	Uninsured, within \$1	Uninsured, within \$2	Uninsured, within \$3	Uninsured, within ind. cost
Denominator:		All	All	All	All	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured
Total		0.024	0.036	0.048	0.040	0.243	0.368	0.501	0.415
Age: 22 – 24		0.061	0.084	0.117	0.091	0.312	0.430	0.600	0.467
25 - 34		0.025	0.040	0.057	0.045	0.212	0.345	0.484	0.382
35 - 44		0.021	0.032	0.043	0.037	0.243	0.366	0.491	0.428
45 - 54		0.018	0.026	0.033	0.029	0.249	0.360	0.465	0.413
55 - 64		0.015	0.024	0.031	0.026	0.252	0.393	0.521	0.437
Family structure	e:								
Single male,	, no kids	0.030	0.050	0.069	0.033	0.194	0.317	0.437	0.210
Married mal	le, no kids	0.012	0.019	0.026	0.027	0.179	0.292	0.401	0.412
Single male,	, kids	0.042	0.062	0.086	0.096	0.213	0.318	0.440	0.488
Married mal	le, kids	0.015	0.023	0.032	0.033	0.180	0.276	0.397	0.410
Single fema	le, no kids	0.035	0.053	0.068	0.039	0.309	0.466	0.606	0.343
Married fem	ale, no kids	0.018	0.024	0.034	0.036	0.313	0.424	0.609	0.635
Single femal	le, kids	0.050	0.069	0.094	0.098	0.338	0.468	0.637	0.662
Married fem	iale, kids	0.025	0.037	0.048	0.048	0.334	0.493	0.631	0.640
Education:									
Less than 9	years	0.143	0.211	0.262	0.246	0.395	0.583	0.724	0.680
9 - 11 years		0.070	0.106	0.142	0.120	0.315	0.477	0.640	0.540
High school	graduate	0.025	0.037	0.052	0.042	0.220	0.334	0.469	0.372
Some colleg	e	0.016	0.025	0.035	0.028	0.199	0.305	0.431	0.347
College grad	luate	0.006	0.010	0.013	0.010	0.161	0.251	0.343	0.257
Post-college		0.002	0.003	0.004	0.003	0.123	0.150	0.197	0.174

Table A6	The fractior Panel C: Su Uninsured I	n of full-time ibsample wi Definition 2	 private se th detailed (excludes t 	ctor worker insurance i those who c	s who are a information lecline insu	at risk, base , rrance)	ed on wages	s and demo	graphics
Fraction at risk relative to:	: defined		All we	orkers		e.	Uninsured	d workers	
Proximity to m to qualify as "a uninsured work	uinimum wage ut risk" for an cer:	\$1	\$2	\$3	Individual- specific cost	\$1	\$2	\$3	Individual- specific cost
Numerator:		Uninsured, within \$1	Uninsured, within \$2	Uninsured, within \$3	Uninsured, within ind. cost	Uninsured, within \$1	Uninsured, within \$2	Uninsured, within \$3	Uninsured, within ind. cost
Denominator:		All	All	All	All	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured
White non-I	Hispanic	0.014	0.022	0.031	0.024	0.205	0.316	0.440	0.343
Black		0.030	0.045	0.068	0.054	0.226	0.347	0.522	0.414
Hispanic wł	hite	0.085	0.125	0.160	0.145	0.326	0.478	0.612	0.554
Other		0.031	0.047	0.059	0.053	0.274	0.416	0.525	0.471
Establishment	size:								
1 - 9		0.070	0.102	0.130	0.114	0.258	0.374	0.479	0.418
10 - 24		0.038	0.062	0.085	0.070	0.217	0.353	0.485	0.403
25 – 99		0.026	0.040	0.055	0.046	0.239	0.362	0.506	0.419
100 - 499		0.015	0.023	0.032	0.025	0.241	0.387	0.521	0.417
500 - 999		0.009	0.011	0.019	0.015	0.179	0.230	0.398	0.304
1,000+		0.012	0.018	0.025	0.020	0.260	0.393	0.557	0.436
Industry									
Agriculture/	/forestry/fishing	0.139	0.207	0.245	0.208	0.403	0.602	0.712	0.603
Mining	÷	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.013	0.134	0.134	0.151	0.368
Construction	n	0.013	0.029	0.047	0.038	0.062	0.132	0.218	0.174
Manufacturi	ing	0.011	0.017	0.024	0.019	0.245	0.366	0.511	0.417
Trade		0.049	0.071	0.094	0.079	0.346	0.499	0.657	0.557
TCPU		0.009	0.017	0.025	0.021	0.119	0.227	0.341	0.290
FIRE		0.009	0.014	0.020	0.015	0.195	0.306	0.419	0.310
Services		0.022	0.033	0.045	0.037	0.234	0.353	0.491	0.400
Public admi	nistration	0.024	0.040	0.040	0.034	0.195	0.316	0.316	0.272
Unweighted sar	mple size	47,239	47,239	47,239	47,239	4,360	4,360	4,360	4,360

Table A6 Panel I Panel I	ction of full-time): Comparison of	private sect f top rows of	tor workers Panels A, E	who are at I 3, C	risk, based c	on wages an	d demograp	hics
Fraction at risk defined relative to:		All wo	orkers		2	Uninsured	l workers	
Proximity to minimum w to qualify as "at risk" for	age an			Individual- specific				Individual- specific
uninsured worker:	\$1	\$2	\$3	cost	\$1	\$2	\$3	cost
	Uninsured,	Uninsured,	Uninsured,	Uninsured, within ind.	Uninsured,	Uninsured,	Uninsured,	Uninsured, within ind.
Numerator:	within \$1	within \$2	within \$3	cost	within \$1	within \$2	within \$3	cost
Denominator:	All	All	All	All	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured	Uninsured
March data; Inineurad includes declin	0.037	0.040	0.069	0.069	0 196	0300	0 475	0 429
February data:		(10:0	0000	10010	0000	2020		
Uninsured includes declin	ners 0.028	0.043	0.059	0.049	0.219	0.337	0.470	0.391
February data; Uninsured excludes decli	ners 0.024	0.036	0.048	0.040	0.243	0.368	0.501	0.415

Table A7 Projected	l impact of insurance	ce mandate on dif	ferent groups	
	Fraction of	Average increase	Fraction of	Fraction of all
	workers in this	in hourly	uninsured	FT workers in
	group who are	compensation for	workers in this	this group losing
	uninsured	uninsured	group losing jobs	jobs
Total:	0.162	0.199	0.016	0.003
Age:				
22 - 24	0.327	0.155	0.015	0.005
25 - 34	0.206	0.160	0.012	0.002
35 - 44	0.139	0.302	0.019	0.003
45 - 54	0.109	0.138	0.019	0.002
55 - 64	0.106	0.243	0.022	0.002
Family structure:				
Single male, no kids	0.268	0.071	0.008	0.002
Married male, no kids	0.110	0.261	0.017	0.002
Single male, kids	0.340	0.270	0.013	0.004
Married male, kids	0.126	0.194	0.014	0.002
Single female, no kids	0.192	0.122	0.012	0.002
Married female, no kids	0.101	0.253	0.026	0.003
Single female, kids	0.272	0.294	0.027	0.007
Married female, kids	0.096	0.522	0.032	0.003
Education:				
Less than 9 years	0.506	0.236	0.027	0.013
9 - 11 years	0.344	0.168	0.015	0.005
High school graduate	0.180	0.127	0.014	0.002
Some college	0.134	0.373	0.017	0.002
College graduate	0.080	0.083	0.009	0.001
Post-college	0.046	0.064	0.014	0.001
Race:	01010	0.001	01011	01001
White non-Hispanic	0.118	0.182	0.014	0.002
Black	0.225	0.279	0.016	0.004
Hispanic white	0.385	0.193	0.017	0.007
Other	0.193	0.181	0.025	0.005
Establishment size:				
1-9	0.344	0.243	0.019	0.006
10-24	0.267	0.143	0.015	0.004
25 - 99	0.182	0.195	0.015	0.003
100 - 499	0.122	0.126	0.010	0.001
500 - 999	0.097	0.144	0.016	0.002
1.000+	0.094	0.244	0.017	0.002
Industry	0.439	0.251	0.018	0.008
Agro/for/fish	0.101	0.041	0.000	0.000
Mining	0.296	0.042	0.006	0.002
Construction	0.101	0.119	0.012	0.001
Mfg	0.220	0.335	0.025	0.006
Trade	0.114	0.305	0.005	0.001
TCPU	0.082	0.196	0.009	0.001
FIRE	0.002	0.130	0.009	0.001
Services	0.101	0.140	0.010	0.003
Public admin	0.124	0.151	0.000	0.000
i uone aumin	0.102	0.199	0.010	0.005
Unweighted sample size	170.028	30.627	30.627	170.028

Employment Policies Institute | www.EPIonline.org

Table	e A8	Stat (in J	te Mini Ianuar	imum \ y)	Nage L	aws in	Effect	by Yea	ar
State	2003	2002	2001	2000	1999	1998	1997	1996	1995
AL	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
AK	\$7.15	\$5.65	\$5.65	\$5.65	\$5.65	\$5.65	\$5.25	\$4.75	\$4.75
AZ	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
AR	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
CA	\$6.75	\$6.75	\$6.25	\$5.75	\$5.75	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
CO	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
CT	\$6.90	\$6.70	\$6.40	\$5.65	\$5.65	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.27	\$4.27
DE	\$6.15	\$6.15	\$6.15	\$5.65	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.00	\$4.25	\$4.25
DC	\$6.15	\$6.15	\$6.15	\$6.15	\$6.15	\$5.25	\$5.25	\$5.25	\$5.25
FL	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
GA	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
HI	\$6.25	\$5.75	\$5.25	\$5.25	\$5.25	\$5.25	\$5.25	\$5.25	\$5.25
ID	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
IL	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
IN	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
IA	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.65	\$4.65
KS	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
KY	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
LA	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
ME	\$6.25	\$5.75	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
MD	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
MA	\$6.75	\$6.75	\$6.75	\$6.00	\$5.25	\$5.25	\$5.25	\$4.25	\$4.25
MI	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
MN	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
MS	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
MO	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
MT	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
NE	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
NV	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
NH	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
NJ	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.05	\$5.05	\$5.05
NM	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
NY	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
NC	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
ND	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
OH	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
OK	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
OR	\$6.90	\$6.50	\$6.50	\$6.50	\$6.50	\$6.00	\$5.50	\$4.75	\$4.75
PA	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
RI	\$6.15	\$6.15	\$6.15	\$5.65	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.45	\$4.45
SC	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
SD	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
TN	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
TX	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
UT	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
VT	\$6.25	\$6.25	\$6.25	\$5.75	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.00	\$4.50	\$4.50
VA	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
WA	\$7.01	\$6.90	\$6.72	\$6.50	\$5.70	\$5.15	\$4.90	\$4.90	\$4.90
WV	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
WI	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
WY	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25
Federal	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$5.15	\$4.75	\$4.25	\$4.25

Table A9	Distribution of full-time private sector workers by insurance coverage and (if uninsured) wage relative to the minimum wage, for regions and selected states								
		Northeast	Midwest	South	West	Total			
Total		1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000			
Own EHI		0.659	0.683	0.639	0.638	0.654			
Other EHI		0.199	0.202	0.170	0.162	0.182			
Uninsured, within \$1 of min wage		0.025	0.018	0.039	0.050	0.033			
Uninsured, \$1-2 of min wage		0.013	0.011	0.021	0.023	0.017			
Uninsured, \$2-3 of min wage		0.015	0.015	0.025	0.023	0.020			
Uninsured, \$3+ min wage		0.090	0.071	0.106	0.104	0.093			

	CA	MA	OR	WA
Total	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Own EHI	0.620	0.652	0.702	0.698
Other EHI	0.155	0.227	0.154	0.154
Uninsured, within \$1 min	0.065	0.019	0.049	0.032
Uninsured, \$1-2 of min wage	0.026	0.012	0.020	0.023
Uninsured, \$2-3 of min wage	0.026	0.011	0.012	0.015
Uninsured, \$3+ min wage	0.108	0.080	0.063	0.079
Unweighted sample size	14,215	5,369	2,765	3,058

Description of final sample selection					
All observations present in both March and "outgoing rotation group" CPS samples					
Restrict to workers					
Restrict to private sector					
Restrict to those with observed wages and pay periods					
Restrict to those with observed establishment size					
Restrict to those with health insurance information					
Restrict to those with valid industry code					
Restrict (usually) to those working ≥ 20 hours/week					
	Description of final sample selection ons present in both March and "outgoing rotation group" CPS samples orkers ivate sector ose with observed wages and pay periods ose with observed establishment size ose with health insurance information ose with valid industry code ally) to those working ≥ 20 hours/week				

- 1. Yelowitz ("The Cost of California's Health Insurance Act of 2003," EPI, 2003), for example, shows that costs and benefits of California's law depend crucially on the subsidy for low-income workers, the generosity of the plan required to fulfill the "play-or-pay" requirements, etc. See also Zedlewski et al., "Play-or-Pay Employer Mandates: Potential Effects," *Health Affairs*, Spring 2002; and Krueger and Reinhardt, "The Economics of Employer Versus Individual Mandates," *Health Affairs*, Spring 1994.
- 2. See, for example, Gruber and Krueger, "The Incidence of Mandated Employer-Provided Insurance: Lessons from Workers' Compensation Insurance," *Tax Policy and the Economy*, (1991); and Thurston, "Labor Market Effects of Hawaii's Mandatory Employer-Provided Health Insurance," *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, October, (1997).
- 3. Yelowitz (2004) illustrates the importance of understanding the specifics of California's proposed mandate in order to estimate the proposal's cost.
- 4. If workers are required to take up the insurance, the degree to which workers value the benefits and the elasticity of labor supply and demand would determine the ultimate effect on wages (and the "incidence" of the mandate), as discussed below. See Summers (1989) for a discussion of how worker valuation affects the incidence of mandated benefits.
- 5. While hourly workers may be more susceptible to binding minimum wages than salaried workers, minimum wage laws apply to almost all salaried workers as well. We impute an hourly wage for those workers on salary using the usual hours worked per week and weekly wages

from the CPS. Workers paid hourly are much more likely to be close to the minimum wage than those paid on salary, but we include both in our analysis.

- 6. It is not clear how accurate employees' reports of their establishment size are.
- 7. Of course, to the extent that the insurance they are currently offered is not generous enough to meet the requirements of the new mandate, the increase in cost generated by the mandate will still affect their wages and employment. The generosity of the required coverage must therefore be taken into account, as well as whether or not workers are required to take it up.
- 8. Many proposed mandates apply only to fulltime workers. Employers might thus have the incentive to substitute away from full-time employees toward part-time employees. We ignore these dynamics. We are also implicitly assuming here that wages adjust independently of whether workers would have taken up insurance or not-insofar as there is no mechanism for employers to know ahead of time (when offering a wage and insurance package) whether a worker is going to take up that coverage or not.
- 9. In 1997, on average, wages represented about 75 percent of compensation, but there is evidence that non-wage compensation is a lower share of total compensation for low-wage workers and is dropping for them over time (Farber and Levy, 2000; and Pierce, 2001).
- 10. Bureau of Labor Statistics report of total private sector labor force.
- 11. This is a relatively conservative estimate of the sensitivity of employment to minimum wage laws. See Brown (1999) for a review of the wider range of estimates of this elasticity.

Selected Publications

Effective Tax Rates and the Minimum Wage, by Dr. Aaron Yelowitz, University of Kentucky, Dr. Richard Toikka, Levin Group, May 2005.

The Economic Impact of Proposition 72 on California Employers, by Dr. Aaron Yelowitz, University of Kentucky, September 2004.

The Effects of the Proposed California Minimum Wage Increase, by Dr. David Macpherson; - Florida State University; and Craig Garthwaite, Employment Policies Institute, August 2004.

Minimum Wages and Job Search: What Do Employment Effects Really Measure, by Dr. Peter Arcidiacono, Duke University, and Dr. Thomas Ahn, Duke University, August 2004.

Why Raising the Minimum Wage is a Poor Way to Help the Working Poor, by Dr. Richard Burkhauser, Cornell University, and Dr. Joseph Sabia, Cornell University, July 2004.

Wage Growth Among Minimum Wage Workers, by Dr. William E. Even, Miami University of Ohio, and David A. Macpherson, Florida State University, June 2004.

Helping Working-Poor Families: Advantages of Wage-Based Tax Credits Over the EITC and Minimum Wages, by Dr. Thomas MaCurdy, Stanford University, and Dr. Frank McIntyre, Brigham Young University, April 2004.

The Cost of California's Health Insurance Act of 2003, by Dr. Aaron Yelowitz, University of Kentucky, October 2003.

Welfare Reform and Its Effects on the Dynamics of Welfare Receipt, Employment, and Earnings, by Dr. Peter Mueser and Dr. Kenneth R. Troske, University of Missouri, September 2003.

The Economic and Distributional Consequences of the Santa Monica Minimum Wage Ordinance, by Richard H. Sander, University of California at Los Angeles; E. Douglass Williams, University of the South; and Joseph Doherty, Empirical Research Group at University of California Los Angeles, October 2002.

The Economic Well-Being of Low-Income Working Families, by John P. Formby and Hoseong Kim, University of Alabama, and Dr. John A. Bishop, East Carolina University, March 2002.

The Long-Term Effects of Youth Unemployment, by Thomas A. Mroz, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, and Timothy H. Savage, Welch Consulting Economists, October 2001.

The Effect of Minimum Wages on the Labor Force Participation Rates of Teenagers, by Walter J. Wessels, North Carolina State University, June 2001.

Winners and Losers of Federal and State Minimum Wages, by Thomas MaCurdy and Frank McIntyre, Stanford University, June 2001. **Does the Minimum Wage Reduce Poverty?** by Richard K. Vedder and Lowell E. Gallaway, Ohio University, June 2001.

Evaluating the Effects of Medicaid on Welfare and Work: Evidence from the Past Decade, by Aaron S. Yelowitz, University of California at Los Angeles, December 2000.

Higher Minimum Wages Harm Minority and Inner-City Teens, by Mark Turner and Berna Demiralp, Johns Hopkins University, September 2000.

Rising Above the Minimum Wage, by William Even, Miami University of Ohio, and David Macpherson, Florida State University, January 2000.

Effective Marginal Tax Rates on Low-Income Households, by Daniel N. Shaviro, New York University School of Law, February 1999.

Targeted Jobs Tax Credits and Labor Market Experience, by Frederick J. Tannery, University of Pittsburgh, June 1998.

Work Ethic and Family Background, by Casey B. Mulligan, University of Chicago, May 1997.

From Welfare to Work: The Transition of an Illiterate Population, by Employment Policies Institute, February 1997.

Who Are the "Low-Wage" Workers? by Derek Neal, University of Chicago, July 1996.

Jobs Taken by Mothers Moving from Welfare to Work: And the Effects of Minimum Wages on This Transition, by Peter D. Brandon, Institute for Research on Poverty, University of Wisconsin–Madison, February 1995.

Minimum Wage Laws and the Distribution of Employment, by Kevin Lang, Boston University, January 1995.

Mandates On Employment: A History of Added Burdens on the Unskilled, by Simon Rottenberg, University of Massachusetts-Amherst, August 1994.

Labor Demand Elasticities & Clinton Health Care Reform, by Julia Lane, The American University, July 1994.

Effects of the Employer Mandate in the Clinton Health Care Plan, by June O'Neill, City University of New York, Dave O'Neill, City University of New York, March 1994.

The Impact of a Health Insurance Mandate on Labor Costs and Employment: Empirical Evidence, by June O'Neill, City University of New York, Dave O'Neill, City University of New York, September 1993.

Mandated Health Insurance, The Low Wage Employee, and the Distribution of Income, by Dwight R. Lee, University of Georgia, and Ronald S. Warren, University of Georgia, January 1993.

Employment Policies

Suite 1200 | 1775 Pennsylvania Avenue NW | Washington, DC 20006-4605 | telephone 202.463.7650 | www.EPIonline.org